~~10-28~~ OIA 12-9-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,338

LINDA K. PADDOCK,

Petitioner,

vs.

CHAWALLUR DeVASSY
CHACKO, MD.,

Respondent.

_____ /

FILED
S.D. J. WHITE
OCT 6 1988
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
(By _____
Deputy Clerk

see "letter" original

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NEAL P. PITTS, ESQ.
Post Office Box 512
Orlando, Fla. 32802

SPENCE, PAYNE, MASINGTON, GROSSMAN
& NEEDLE, P.A.
Suite 300 Grove Professional Bldg.
2950 S.W. 27th Avenue
Miami, Fla. 33133

-and-
PODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A.
Suite 800, City National Bank Building

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

There are numerous conflicts in the evidence on a number of the issues. Those conflicts have become irrelevant here, however, because the jury's verdict was favorable

to Mrs. Paddock in every respect. As a result, and because the right to a *jury* trial of the facts is of constitutional dimension, it is axiomatic that the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to Mrs. Paddock here, with all conflicts resolved and all reasonable inferences drawn in her favor.^{2/} We are therefore entitled to disregard the conflicts in the evidence here, and to state the facts in a light most favorable to Mrs. Paddock.

In the early morning hours of June 6, 1983, Mrs. Paddock attempted to take her life in her home in North Carolina by drinking a mixture of formaldehyde, procaine, and liquor (R. 933-40, 1244, 1805-12 [5514-17, 55491]). It is undisputed on the record that this was a serious attempt, which would have resulted in her death had she not been discovered by her husband and immediately hospitalized (R. 403, 939, 1805-12 [5552]).³¹ The physician who treated Mrs. Paddock in North Carolina (who was not a psychiatrist) testified that her suicide attempt had been caused by an episode of paranoid psychosis; that she was mentally ill and a risk for another suicide attempt; that she was in need of hospitalization or psychiatric treatment; that this recommendation was made to Mrs. Paddock's husband; and that Mrs. Paddock's husband had stated that he would seek psychiatric treatment for

^{2/} See, e. g., *Helman v. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Co.*, 349 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1977); *Welfare v. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Co.*, 373 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1979); *Kolosky v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 472 So.2d 891 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), *review denied*, 432 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986); *Reams v. Vaughn*, 435 So.2d 879 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); *Marks v. Delcastillo*, 386 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), *review denied*, 397 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1981); 3 Fla. Jur.2d, *Appellate Review*, §§343-45 (and decisions cited therein).

^{3/} The defendant adduced a great deal of evidence concerning events which predated this first suicide attempt, including Mrs. Paddock's marital problems, the Paddocks' financial difficulties, and Mrs. Paddock's occasional extramarital affairs. The defendant will no doubt elaborate upon this aspect of the evidence in his answer brief, but we think it has been rendered irrelevant here by the verdict, which reflects that the jury obviously credited several other aspects of the evidence which effectively cancelled the defendant's evidence--such as (1) Mrs. Paddock's denial of much of the evidence, and her testimony that none of those things led to her suicide attempts and that she was not even aware that she was attempting suicide on either occasion (R. 1241-1386); (2) one of the defendant's expert's concession that Mrs. Paddock did not consciously attempt to commit suicide on either occasion (R. 1609-21); and (3) expert testimony that Mrs. Paddock was mentally ill and that her past was irrelevant to the issues of whether Dr. Chacko or Mrs. Paddock were negligent causes of her ultimate injuries (R. 548, 631-33). We will therefore not burden the Court with a recitation of the evidence of the events predating the first attempt--which was adduced for the most part, in any event, for no purpose other than to discredit Mrs. Paddock's "verdict worthiness" in the eyes of the jury.

her (R. 2120-21, 1805-12 [5521-77]). Mrs. Paddock was discharged from the North Carolina hospital on June 9, with instructions to take four milligrams per day of an anti-psychotic drug, Navane (R. 249, 1805-12 [5525, 5546, 55651]).

Mrs. Paddock's mother and father, Mr. and Mrs. Burkhart, drove to North Carolina, picked up their daughter, and brought her to their home in the Orlando area on June 12 (R. 249-50, 1243). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Burkhart obtained Dr. Chacko's name from his own physician--and on June 15, Mrs. Paddock called Dr. Chacko's office; told his secretary that she needed a psychiatric evaluation for a recent suicide attempt; and was given an appointment for Wednesday, June 22 (R. 1242-43). Both Mrs. Paddock and her father attended the June 22 session with Dr. Chacko, which lasted for approximately one hour (R. 251-52, 930-35). Dr. Chacko diagnosed Mrs. Paddock as suffering from an acute paranoid state in partial remission, concluded that she needed continuing psychiatric care, and increased her dosage of Navane to six milligrams per day (R. 501, 951-63). Despite this frightening diagnosis, Dr. Chacko told Mrs. Paddock and her father only that she had suffered a "nervous breakdown" (R. 254-55, 1250). No follow-up appointment was immediately made, because Mrs. Paddock was not yet certain whether she would remain in Florida (R. 309).

According to expert testimony adduced at trial from both sides, Mrs. Paddock was suffering from a serious mental illness, possibly caused by a biochemical abnormality in her brain; she was both paranoid and psychotic; her thought processes were out of touch with reality and controlled by delusions of a conspiracy against her and her family; and she had no control over her thoughts or feelings (R. 386-92, 404, 499-504, 1467-73, 1627-29, 1864-69, 1872, 1915-16). She grew more upset and confused on Thursday and Friday, and she telephoned Dr. Chacko on Friday afternoon (R. 258, 261, 339-42, 964-65, 1256-57). She told him that she was very upset and confused; that she felt there was something she was supposed to do, but did not know what it was; that she did not understand what to do; that she had never been so afraid in her life; and that she needed help (R. 1257-58). Dr. Chacko responded, "Well, what do you want me to do . . . I have plans to go out of town for

the weekend" (R. 1258). Dr. Chacko then suggested that possibly she should come to the hospital and Mrs. Paddock responded that she would--that she would do whatever he thought best (R. 1258-59). Dr. Chacko then stated that he would have to make some arrangements for a hospital bed, and that he would call her back (R. 1260).

Mr. Burkhart returned home from work shortly thereafter and was told of Mrs. Paddock's call to Dr. Chacko; he called Dr. Chacko's office, and Dr. Chacko later returned the call (R. 262). Mr. Burkhart related that Mrs. Paddock was upset, uptight, fearful, hallucinating, and requesting additional help, and that her condition seemed to have worsened since the Wednesday visit to his office (R. 262-63, 346). According to Mr. Burkhart, although hospitalization was discussed, Dr. Chacko did not recommend it--and if he had made such a recommendation, it would have been willingly followed (R. 263-65, 346-47). Instead, Dr. Chacko decided to increase Mrs. Paddock's medication to eight milligrams per day, and told Mr. Burkhart that if she grew worse over the weekend, he would consider hospitalizing her on Monday (R. 264, 349-50).^{4/} Dr. Chacko also informed Mr. Burkhart that he would be out of town over the weekend, and that if Mrs. Paddock needed help, she should call his answering service, which would put her in touch with a reputable psychiatrist (R. 265, 351). It is undisputed that Dr. Chacko had no plans to be out of town

^{4/} Dr. Chacko's version of these phone calls was that he insisted that Mrs. Paddock be hospitalized, but Mr. Burkhart refused (R. 975-77). Dr. Chacko twice admitted on the record that his version of the calls was in stark conflict with the versions to which Mrs. Paddock and her father had testified (R. 977, 998-99). (It is also undisputed that, after speaking with her father, Dr. Chacko never spoke to Mrs. Paddock again, notwithstanding his promise to call her back.) Dr. Chacko's office records contain notes of the June 24 phone calls, but they are largely supportive of Mr. Burkhart's version of the last call (R. 964-70). In any event, to the extent that the notes provided any support for Dr. Chacko's version of the calls, the evidence was compelling that the notes were dictated weeks later, and only after Dr. Chacko learned that a malpractice claim was a possibility.

Two witnesses, Mrs. Paddock's husband and her brother-in-law, testified that they accompanied an attorney to Dr. Chacko's office approximately two weeks after the June 26 suicide attempt, presented his secretary with Mrs. Paddock's written authorization for release of the records, and asked for the records. They were shown the file, which they examined; the secretary telephoned Dr. Chacko while they were examining the file, and then informed them that they could not have the file until Dr. Chacko verified the authenticity of the authorization. At the time they first examined the file, it contained only notes of the June 22 office visit, followed by the words "case closed". When they were finally given the file later that day, it contained additional entries concerning the phone calls of June 24 and subsequent events. (R. 1150-78, 1396-1400).

over the weekend; that he was, in fact, in town the entire weekend entertaining a friend from out of town; and that he was "on call" for himself (R. 911-13, 979-80, 1056).

On Sunday morning, June 26, Mrs. Paddock began experiencing delusions, and felt a compulsion to leave the house (R. 1268-69). She took her purse, and ran from the house to a wooded area near her home (R. 1269-70). She had no intention of committing suicide (R. 1287-88). She thought someone was trying to harm her, and it never occurred to her that she might be trying to harm herself (R. 1309). Acting under this delusion, she took her Swiss army knife from her purse and inflicted some superficial cuts on her wrists (R. 1272). She then took a cigarette lighter from her purse, and set her blouse on fire (R. 1272). She was discovered by a nearby homeowner who had responded to her cries for help, and she was taken to a hospital (R. 210-38). It is undisputed that this second suicide attempt, which occurred 20 days after the first, was a serious attempt--and that Mrs. Paddock would have died had she not received prompt medical attention (R. 1019).

The facts are considerably more extensive and complex than that, of course, especially when the conflicts in the evidence are considered. Those facts are sufficient for our purposes here, however, because the complexities in the evidence are largely irrelevant here--since they are subsumed for the most part in the various expert opinions constructed upon the facts, to which we will now turn. First, we note that several experts (including some of Dr. Chacko's experts) testified that, as a matter of medical ethics, Mrs. Paddock was Dr. Chacko's patient from her initial visit on Wednesday, through her call for help on Friday, and at the time of her second suicide attempt on Sunday (R. 588-89, 650-51, 866, 1905-06). Dr. Chacko himself admitted that Mrs. Paddock was his patient throughout that period (R. 1004-05, 1010-11). That a doctor-patient relationship existed at all relevant times is therefore established without dispute.

Next, we note that *all* of the psychiatrists who testified for both sides in the case testified, in one form or another, essentially as follows: that Mrs. Paddock had a serious mental illness which she was incapable of controlling herself; that the job of a psychiatrist is to diagnose and treat such illnesses, in the same way that other physicians treat physical

illnesses; that psychiatrists are in the business of treating suicidal patients, and are specially trained for that purpose; and that psychiatrists have a medically recognized responsibility to exercise reasonable care to prevent their mentally ill patients from harming themselves (R. 359, 380, 407-08, 437, 461, 470, 481, 509, 619, 651, 668, 755, 845-55, 954, 1000, 1020, 1467-68, 1496, 1515-21, 1524-26, 1555, 1625, 1649, 1868, 1912-13). One of the psychiatrists summed all of this up nicely with his observation that "[t]he kind of problem that Linda Paddock had would be the reason why psychiatrists exist" (R. 755). Dr. Chacko himself admitted that it was his "most serious responsibility" to prevent his mentally ill patients from attempting to take their lives (R. 1047-48). We will have more to say about this undisputed medical duty, of course, in our first issue on appeal--in which we will challenge the lower courts' rulings that Dr. Chacko owed Mrs. Paddock no legal duty of care to protect her from harming herself.

The disputes in this case were not really over the nature of the duty of care which Dr. Chacko owed Mrs. Paddock, or even its extent. The primary factual dispute was over the substance of the two June 24 telephone calls--whether Mrs. Paddock and her father were telling the truth about them, or whether (as Dr. Chacko contended) hospitalization had been recommended and rejected in them. The primary medical dispute was whether Dr. Chacko had conformed to or departed from reasonable standards of psychiatric care in discharging his conceded duty toward Mrs. Paddock on whatever version of the facts the jury ultimately accepted. On the medical issues, four eminently qualified expert psychiatrists testified on Mrs. Paddock's behalf, essentially as follows:

(1) Mrs. Paddock's "past" was entirely irrelevant to the question of whether Dr. Chacko's care and treatment of her conformed to reasonable standards of psychiatric care (R. 511-12, 522, 547-48, 631-33);

(2) Mrs. Paddock was suffering from a severe mental illness which required psychiatric intervention (R. 385-401, 485-88, 501-09, 615-19);

(3) Mrs. Paddock was at substantial risk for a second suicide attempt in the immediate future (R. 410-12, 487, 512-13, 615-19);

(4) Dr. Chacko had ample information from the June 22 office visit and the June 24 phone call from which he should have known that a second suicide attempt was foreseeable and that intervention was necessary (R. 412, 485-92);

(5) Dr. Chacko departed from reasonable standards of psychiatric care by prescribing only minimal and inadequate amounts of Navane on both June 22 and June 24; the dosage should have been at least 15 to 20 milligrams per day (which is what Dr. Chacko finally prescribed on June 26) (R. 398-400, 486-87, 514-16, 592-93, 600-01, 640-41, 994-1006);

(6) Dr. Chacko departed from reasonable standards of psychiatric care in not arranging for a face-to-face visit with his patient on June 24, and in attempting to base his treatment of her on a telephone conversation (R. 386, 394-97, 408-09, 441-43, 487-88);

(7) Dr. Chacko departed from reasonable standards of psychiatric care in not hospitalizing Mrs. Paddock on June 24 (which is what Dr. Chacko himself insisted was the proper course of treatment), when Mrs. Paddock had indicated her willingness to be hospitalized (R. 492-93, 513-14, 635, 641-42, 965-66, 976);

(8) Even if Dr. Chacko were telling the truth that Mr. Burkhardt rejected hospitalization for Mrs. Paddock on June 24, Mr. Burkhardt was not competent to render any opinions on the need for hospitalization (a point which Dr. Chacko conceded at trial), and Dr. Chacko was negligent in allowing himself to be dissuaded from hospitalization by Mr. Burkhardt's lay observations, communicated in a brief telephone call (R. 386, 441-43, 451-54, 603, 630-31, 978);

(9) In addition, even if Dr. Chacko were telling the truth that Mr. Burkhardt refused hospitalization for Mrs. Paddock, she was an appropriate candidate for involuntary hospitalization under the simple, automatic procedures of Florida's "Baker Act"--§394.451 *et seq.*, Fla. Stat. (1983)--(which Dr. Chacko conceded was designed to protect persons from injuring themselves, and which he also conceded he had utilized many times; before for precisely that purpose), and he had departed from reasonable standards of psychiatric care in not utilizing the Act (R. 488-91, 643-46, 1012-17, 1035);

(10) Dr. Chacko's several departures from reasonable standards of psychiatric care were a cause of Mrs. Paddock's self-inflicted injuries (R. 411-12, 492-93, 647-48); and

(11) If Dr. Chacko's care and treatment had conformed to reasonable standards of psychiatric care, the possibility that Mrs. Paddock would have made a second suicide attempt was only "slight", and the probability that she would not have injured herself was therefore substantially greater than 50% (R. 432-33, 443, 492-93, 514, 646-47).

In short, there was abundant expert opinion evidence that Dr. Chacko's care and treatment of Mrs. Paddock departed from reasonable standards of psychiatric care in several respects (on either of the conflicting versions of the June 24 telephone calls), and that these departures were a legal cause of Mrs. Paddock's injuries.^{5/} The jury's finding of liability therefore represents little more than a rejection of the defendant's expert testimony and an acceptance of the expert testimony offered by the plaintiff.

The experts also disagreed on the issue of Mrs. Paddock's comparative negligence. According to two of the plaintiff's experts, Mrs. Paddock was psychotic on June 26, and mentally incompetent as a result--and, because of her illness, she was irrational, incapable of understanding the consequences of her acts, and unable to exercise any care at all for her own safety (R. 390-92, 401-08, 508-09). One of the defendant's experts also testified that Mrs. Paddock's psychosis distorted her perception of reality; that her suicide attempt was an impulsive attempt to quell the conspiracy which she perceived; and that she did not intend to harm herself (R. 1609-11, 1621, 1627-29). Mrs. Paddock also testified, as we noted previously, that she had no idea she was attempting suicide; that she thought someone else was trying to harm her; and that it never occurred to her that she was harming herself (R. 1287-88, 1309). In short, there was abundant evidence from which the jury could properly have determined that Mrs. Paddock was incompetent on June 26; that she

^{5/} Dr. Chacko's four experts testified that his care and treatment of Mrs. Paddock was acceptable under the circumstances (R. 816-23, 1459-64, 1594-98, 1821-33). Three of these experts were also of the opinion that Mrs. Paddock's June 26 suicide attempt was spontaneous, impulsive, and unforeseeable by Dr. Chacko (R. 1482, 1611-21, 1833-34). These opinions are irrelevant here in view of the verdict, of course, but we mention them in the interest of completeness.

was therefore incapable of exercising reasonable care for her own safety; and that she was not "negligent" as a result.^{6/}

That is only a brief synopsis of the facts and the expert opinion testimony on the liability issues. In view of the District Court's decision, a portion of that evidence--the substance of the two Friday afternoon telephone calls--has become a matter of critical importance here, so we will elaborate upon that aspect of the evidence in our argument under Issue A. We will also defer discussion of the evidence concerning the extent of Mrs. Paddock's damages to our argument under Issue C.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

The six issues on appeal are stated in the table of contents, as required by Rule 9.210(b)(1). We regret their number. We have no choice, however, because the trial court set aside Mrs. Paddock's verdict for six different reasons, and we must demonstrate the error of each in order to obtain reinstatement of the verdict. We also respectfully urge the Court to resolve each of the six issues, notwithstanding that the District Court resolved only one of them. The reason for this request should be obvious.

We are convinced, and we intend to demonstrate, that the District Court misstated the facts of this case in order to justify a result which could not otherwise have been reached by applying neutral principles of law to a proper view of the evidence. If we are successful in convincing this Court of that, we will necessarily have convinced it that we did not receive the fair, honest, and neutral appellate review to which we were entitled below. It should logically follow that we are not likely to fare any better in this case if the issues not initially decided by the District Court are remanded back to it for initial determination. In addition, of course, the strong charge which we have felt compelled to level at the District Court, as a matter of principle, has placed us in a highly adversarial

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