0/8/2 W 200

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 72,338

LINDA K. PADDOCK,

Petitioner,

vs.

CHAWALLUR DeVASSY CHACKO, M.D.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS

HARRY K. ANDERSON, ESQ. One South Orange Avenue Suite 650 Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 422-1781

-and-

E. CLAY PARKER, ESQ.
J. SCOTT MURPHY, ESQ.
PARKER, JOHNSON, OWEN, McGUIRE & MICHAUD
201 South Orange Avenue
Suite 1300
Orlando, Fl 32801
(407) 425-4910

SID

31 1988

Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Every expert who testified admitted they had patients who attempted or committed suicide while under their care. Perhaps the best evidence of the unpredictable nature of suicide and suicide attempts is the unquestioned and unrefuted testimony by the only true "suicidologist" who testified at trial, Dr. John Griest.

As Dr. Griest noted, over a quarter of a million people attempt suicide each year, three-fourths of whom have been under the care of a physician over the previous six months, and one-half of whom had seen a physician in the previous three months. Placing all the known risk factors into a hypothetical person, including a prior suicide attempt and a depressive disorder, the chances of that hypothetical person committing suicide is only five percent. Although a person who has made a prior attempt is sixty percent "more likely" to commit suicide, only ten percent of that entire group do so. In the only empirical evidence presented at trial, of a total of sixty-three patients studied, twelve attempted suicide, but the psychiatrist treating those twelve patients believed that there was only a thirty-one percent chance that they would make such an attempt.

"Numerous cases underscore the inability of psychiatric experts to predict, with any degree of precision, an individual's propensity to **do** violence to himself or others." Nesbitt, 467 So.2d at 717. As the court in People v. Burnick, 535 P.2d 352, 365 (Cal. 1975) noted, "psychiatrists themselves would be the first to admit that however desirable an infallible crystal ball might be, it is not among the tools of their profession".

Under such circumstances, to ask a human being, even one with psychiatric

training, to predict whether and when such a person will attempt suicide is not only unreasonable, but any error in such a judgment cannot be the basis for the imposition for any liability. See e.g., Dillman, 283 So.2d at 388: Centeno v. City of New York, 369 N.Y.S.2d 710, 711 (N.Y.App.Div. 1975). ("The prediction of a future course of mental illness is a professional judgment ... Disagreement between professional experts does not provide a basis..." for holding the Defendant liable.) Moon v. U.S. 512 F.Supp. 140 (D. Nev. 1981) (Drowning of patient permitted to go on outing not foreseeable: hindsight unavailable to court).

Under the circumstances of this case, we respectfully request this Court to, as the District Court held, refuse to extend or create a duty of custodial supervision and care to an outpatient relationship between a psychiatrist and a patient, and to hold, as a matter of law, that Respondent was under no duty to confine Petitioner in an institution.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PETITIONER ON THE ISSUE OF PROXIMATE CAUSE

Clearly separate from the whole issue of "duty" is the Petitioner's contention that Dr. Chacko was negligent in failing to prescribe adequate doses of an antipsychotic medication, Navane, and her contention that Dr. Chacko was negligent for failing to see Petitioner in person after the telephone call of June 24, 1983. The District Court found that Petitioner failed to produce sufficient evidence at trial for the jury to determine that either of these alleged negligent acts proximately caused her injuries.

With respect to the issue of a "face-to-face" contact, Petitioner's case was built on pure speculation and the stacking of one inference on top of another. Petitioner's experts' speculated that had such a contact taken place, the complained of incident would not have occurred. To reach this so-called

conclusion, they infer that had Dr. Chacko seen the patient in person, he would have seen something or heard something different that what was reported to him, he would then have altered his diagnosis, would then have confined the patient or otherwise altered his treatment, the patient would not have harmed herself while confined, she would not have been discharged before **Sunday**, the thought of self-harm would not have come into her mind, and somehow she would not have harmed herself anyway.

The District Court held that such evidence was insufficient and speculative as a matter of law. While Petitioner states that it has "long been settled" that expert opinions admitted into evidence without objection cannot be declared speculative as a matter of law, none of the cases she cites stands for that proposition, or even discusses that issue.

In <u>Wale v. Barnes</u>, 278 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1973), the court held that where there was direct evidence that the injury resulted from a definite negligent act or cause, the fact that the plaintiffs did not eliminate non-negligent causes provided an insufficient basis to direct a verdict in favor **of** the defendants. In <u>Golden Hills Turf & Country Club</u>, <u>Inc. v. Buchanan</u>, 273 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 1973), the court held that the District Court was in error in finding that the suggested methods by an expert to solve a problem were so "unpractical" that the trial court should have rejected the testimony.

If anything, the decision in <u>Cromartie v. Ford Motor Company</u>, **341** So.2d 507 (Fla. 1976) supports the District Court's decision here, since this Court agreed that "verdicts should not be based upon speculative and conjectural expert testimony with no basis and evidentiary fact." While the Court there found the expert opinion was not based upon speculation and conjecture, it did not hold, as Petitioner suggests, that such grounds, if properly found, were an insufficient basis to require a judgment for the defendants.

Perhaps the best example of this principle is <u>Husky Industries</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u> <u>Black</u>, 434 So.2d 988 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). In a products liability action, the trial court there denied defendant's motion for directed verdict, as well as its motion notwithstanding the verdict, finding that the evidence was sufficient to prove a defect in the product.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed, finding that the plaintiff's experts at trial were not only unqualified, but that their opinions were based upon insufficient facts and data, as well as "pure speculation and guesswork."

Id. at 995. The court was therefore compelled to conclude that the record was totally devoid of any evidence from which a jury could find the product defective.

In this case, the only testimony on causation presented by petitioner is that if she had been confined, the chances that she would have been able to inflict injury upon herself would have been lessened, since, statistically, there is less ability to commit such an act while institutionalized. No expert testified that simply by seeing petitioner in person, the plaintiff's injuries, more likely than not, would have been avoided.

Dr. Kline, Petitioner's own expert, conceded candidly but probably unintentionally, that without hindsight and without knowing that she would attempt suicide two days after the phone call, he had insufficient facts to form an opinion as to whether Petitioner was at risk for suicide as of June 24, 1983. (R.429). Dr. Kline went even further and clearly demonstrated the speculative nature of any opinion on causation, when he stated if Respondent had seen the patient, and based upon his observations at that time, decided not to hospitalize her, Dr. Chacko would have committed no deviation from acceptable standards of care. (R.430-31).

Certainly, this latter testimony was directed to the issue of "standard of

care". It points out however, the speculative nature of these experts' opinions. The only basis for their opinions is the presumption and speculation that somehow Dr. Chacko would have discovered something new about the patient's condition which would have led him to "insist" on same different form of treatment. Based on the information on the record, Dr. Kline could not even state what that information would have been, or whether in fact Petitioner was at risk for suicide at that time. Clearly, the District Court was correct in holding that Petitioner's evidence on this issue was insufficient and speculative as a matter of law, warranting judgment in favor of the Defendant.

Similarly, in <u>Nieves v. City of New York</u>, 458 N.Y.S.2d 548 (N.Y. App.Div. 1983), the Plaintiff alleged that he had been negligently discharged from a mental hospital. The court found that the plaintiff failed to prove that any negligence was a proximate cause of the suicide. Though plaintiff's expert testified that it was possible that had the decedent received treatment, he would not have taken his own life, the court found that such testimony on causation was based on "mere speculation" and reversed a verdict for the plaintiff. See also, Paradies, 431 N.Y.S.2d at 175.

With respect to the issue of Navane, there is simply no evidence, speculative or otherwise, that the alleged inadequate dose prescribed by Dr. Chacko in any way caused or contributed to cause Petitioner's injuries. Not one single expert testified that a different dose, standing alone, would have, more likely than not, caused the plaintiff not to inflict injuries upon herself.

Two of Petitioner's experts explained the reason no expert could render such an opinion. Both Dr. Morgan and Dr. Kline testified that psychiatric medications take a period of time to work, especially with Navane and other antipsychotic medications. While Petitioner attempts to creatively reconstruct Dr. Morgan's testimony, Dr. Morgan affirmatively stated that even if

Petitioner had been on a higher dose, she still could have gone out on June 26, 1983, and done precisely the same act. (R.623). He also stated that the medication "does not work that quickly" and "its effect takes a long time". (R.623). Taken orally, Dr. Morgan stated that it takes longer than three or four days to take effect. And, Dr. Gilbert, testified that while he felt the dosage was inadequate, there was no "guarantee the medication was going to work anyway". (R.641).

Thus, there was not even any disagreement among the Petitioner's experts on this issue, and the Petitioner's evidence on causation was wholly insufficient as a matter of law. The District Court was therefore correct in holding Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

C. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ORDERING A NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE JURY'S FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS NOT NEGLIGENT WAS AGAINST THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The trial court, after finding that Respondent was entitled to judgment **as** a matter of law, ruled, in the alternative, that the defendant was entitled to a new trial "because the verdict is contrary to the evidence". The court found that the evidence simply did not support the jury's conclusion that Petitioner herself was not negligent, since, to accept that verdict would be to say, by analogy, that "the Petitioner's part must be forgotten in evaluating the play, even though she was the only performer on stage at all critical times." (R.10295).

Clearly then, the appropriate standard to be applied by this Court is whether or not a trial judge, in ordering a new trial, "abused his discretion". Keith v. Russell T. Bundy & Associates, Inc., 495 So. 2d 1223, 1225 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Thus, "if reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then there is no abuse of discretion." Id.; See also, Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981). While the trial court is

not to serve as a seventh juror, it has a <u>duty</u> "...to grant a new trial where either the verdict is against the manifest weight of the evidence, the jury has been deceived as to the force and credibility of the evidence, or the jury has been influenced by considerations outside the record." <u>Papeun V. Piggyback</u> <u>Discount Souveniers Food & Gas Corn</u>, 472 So.2d 880, 881 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

Since the trial court did not invoke the "magic incantation" that this verdict was "against the manifest weight of the evidence", Petitioner contends that this court should use a different standard of review, and find that this issue presents a clearly legal question, not a discretionary act, only reversible upon showing of an abuse of that discretion. This is purely a game of semantics, and completely inaccurate.

Under Florida law the test for a <u>directed verdict</u> is whether the court concludes that "the jury could not reasonably differ as to the existence of a material fact or a material inference, and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." <u>Ligman v. Tardiff</u>, 466 So. 2d 1125, 1126 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). Had the trial court believed, and ruled, that the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's verdict on the issue of comparative negligence it would have directed a verdict in favor of the respondent, instead of ordering a new trial.

The failure to use exactly those words as quoted by the appellate courts of this state is simply not fatal to the trial court's ruling nor does it justify the imposition of a different, and wholly inappropriate standard. In <u>Wackenhut Corp. v. Canty</u>, 359 So.2d 430, 435 (Fla. 1978) this court specifically stated that an order for a new trial "need not incant language to the effect that the verdict is against the manifest weight of the evidence" in order to be affirmed. All that is required is that the order give reasons which will

support this conclusion so that it will be susceptible to appellate review.9

This record is replete with support that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence, and that the jury was influenced by considerations outside the record on both the issue of damages, and the issue of negligence and comparative negligence.

Petitioner contends there was ample evidence that she was "insane" or "incompetent" at the time of her second suicide attempt, and therefore the jury could have found that she was not responsible for her actions. In other words, petitioner's position is that her conduct should have been gauged by a subjective standard of "reasonableness" in light of her particular state of mind, rather than the objective reasonable man standard normally used in evaluating any person's conduct.

Disregarding for the moment whether this position is correct, the problem is that the jury was not so instructed. The jury was instructed that negligence is the failure to use reasonable care. (R.2134). There was no special instruction given or requested that would allow the jury to consider Petitioner's subjective state of mind in evaluating her negligence. On an objective standard, it is clearly against the manifest weight of the evidence to conclude Petitioner was not comparatively negligent in setting herself on fire after slashing her

⁹ It should be noted that if the court's reasoning is found to be insufficient, the remedy is relinquishment of jurisdiction to the trial court for entry of an order specifying the grounds, and not the automatic rejection and reversal of the trial court's order. 1.530(f), Fla.R.Civ.P.; Prime Motor Inns v. Waltman, 480 So.2d 88 (Fla. 1985); Keith v. Russell T. Bundy & Associates, Inc, 495 So.2d 1223 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

arms. 10

Certainly, Petitioner should have foreseen the consequences of her actions of cutting herself with a knife and setting her blouse on fire. A reasonable person in the position of the Petitioner would, or should have, known the likely result of such action, Petitioner, while not complaining of any error in the instructions, now wishes to speculate as to why the jury reached the verdict it did, a result which clearly violated the law as given by the Trial Court.

If Petitioner's position is found to be correct by this Court, and a subjective standard should have been applied, the jury should have been so instructed, just as it would have been if Petitioner were a minor. See, Florida Standard Jury Instruction 4.4. As it was, the jury was not instructed that any different standard should have been applied. It is improper to speculate as to the basis for the jury's determination, and we must assume that they would follow the law as instructed and not the law Petitioner now deems appropriate. See, Burris v. Bowe's Funeral Home, Ltd., 204 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1967). (Although instruction of future damage was improperly omitted, where error not preserved, the Court was correct in ordering a new trial where verdict contrary to instructions as given.)

Therefore, the Trial Court was eminently correct in granting Respondent's Motion for New Trial on this ground. There certainly was no abuse of discretion, where the overwhelming weight of the evidence was that a reasonable person would, or should have, foreseen the consequences of setting herself on

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